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Wednesday, January 19, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.


Thank you.  We've got all the red buttons pushed here now.  Today the Board is convened in a matter of an application for distribution of rates by Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited for the 2011 rate year.  The application is designated EB-2010-0142.


More specifically, with regard to the Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited application, today the Board will hear a motion brought forward by the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group, an intervenor in this proceeding.


The motion seeks orders of the Board including the following:  An order requiring Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited to forthwith provide full and complete answers to the interrogatories of the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group which Toronto Hydro refused or neglected to answer or only partially answered.  These interrogatories are contained in Appendix 6 to the motion that was filed.


An order amending the time table for full procedural matters and an oral hearing in respect of issues arising out of the interrogatories of the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group to allow them such further time as is appropriate to receive THESL's answers to the subject interrogatories and to prepare for and participate in a technical conference, prepare and file evidence and attend and participate in an oral hearing in respect of such issues.


I'll take the appearances now, please.

Appearances:


MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Chair, Panel.  Dennis O'Leary for the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. O'Leary.


MR. RODGER:  Good morning, sir.  Mark Rodger, counsel for Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited.  With me this morning is my colleague John Vellone, and from Toronto Hydro we have Colin McLorg, Glen Winn and Punkaj Sardana.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rodger.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro for VECC.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning.  Mark Rubenstein, articling student at the School Energy Coalition.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.


Okay, any preliminary matters before we start?  Obviously an appearance from Staff.


MS. SEBALJ:  Board counsel, Kristi Sebalj, and with me is Martin Davies.  Thanks.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry, Ms. Sebalj.  Welcome this morning.


Okay.  If there are no other preliminary matters, Mr. O'Leary, I'll give it to you first.

Submissions by Mr. O'Leary:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I guess it is a bit of a preliminary matter.  I did prepare a document brief for this motion, and I believe Ms. Sebalj has left one on your desk up there.  We circulated it with Toronto Hydro.  There are two other copies of our brief over here if there are other intervenors or interested parties that would like a copy.  And I believe my friend has also brought forward a book of authorities.


So those are likely the two documents you'll be taken to.  


If I could start out with just giving a little context and update in terms of where we are in terms of the interrogatories that are in question, first of all, our group, by means of an introduction, represents the majority of the private sector smart sub-metering companies in the Province of Ontario, now known as unit sub-metering companies, but I trust you'll forgive me if I go back and refer to them as smart sub-metering companies, because I believe it's ingrained in my brain at this point, notwithstanding the change to the Code.


That group consists of Carma Industries, EnerCare Connections Inc., Priority Submetering Solutions, Provident Energy and Stratacon.  And this is a motion requesting an order that you ask or you compel Toronto Hydro to answer the interrogatories that I'll send you to.


I should identify that there were a series in the first round of interrogatories which were posed last year, and then the second round, which related to the cost allocation study which was ordered by the Panel that heard the 2010 rate case.  Those were interrogatories 11, 12 and 13.  There was no answer given or no explanation for no answer given, whatsoever, and in a recent letter - I believe it was Monday of this week - Toronto Hydro indicated that that was simply an administrative error and they had intended to actually circulate electronically the answers to 11, 12 and 13.  And they did provide us with some answers to those questions, and so the motion, in part, will be amended to reflect what is remaining out of those questions.


So for the benefit of the Panel, in the book that we've -- the document brief that we've provided to you, under tab 1, there is a copy of our notice of motion.  At the end of that are the further answers that Toronto Hydro filed on Monday, which would be, in the first round interrogatories, 11, 12 and 13.


I should also, before I get into the meat of our position in respect to the interrogatories, speak to the timetabling.  It is by no means the desire of the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group to delay the hearing of this matter.  Setting rates for the hundreds of thousands of customers of Toronto Hydro is obviously important, and we're not looking to delay the hearing in its entirety.


What we're suggesting - I'll make more detailed submissions at the end of my submissions - is that there are issues that are of importance, we say, to all ratepayers, but -- all ratepayers, but in addition to the members of our group, because it is a competitive market activity, which has been recognized on every occasion that we've been before the Board, whether in writing or orally, the Board has recognized that the sub-metering industry is a competitive market activity.


And THESL's involvement in this market, and its conduct, has been the source of some concern, as you are probably aware.  But from the perspective of the overall setting of rates, we do believe that it is possible for you to make an order today which requires Toronto Hydro today to do what we suggest is appropriate.  And not only is it to answer the undertakings but, most importantly, of the undertakings asked, which is to complete the cost allocation study, which the Board ordered it to do at last year's rate case.


So we aren't suggesting that you put the technical conference on hold or that the settlement conference not proceed and that the hearing can proceed on that date, if necessary and only if necessary, the hearing in respect of the rate impacts of the suite metering program of Toronto Hydro can be delayed, but I'm going to have some more comments on that in a minute.


The primary reason we're here, and I'm not trying to belittle the importance of some of the other questions, but the most obvious area where we believe -- we submit Toronto Hydro has not complied either with the rules to answer an interrogatory or, most importantly, with your order last year, is in respect to the cost allocation study, which it was ordered to do.


And, in summary, what it has done, it has cast a net in its cost allocation study for a suite meter sub-class of about 120,000 customers; yet, as of 2009 - and put this into a temporal context - when they were doing their allocation study in 2010, they were looking at, understandably, the number of customers in 2009.


So as of 2009, the actual number of customers that were suite meter customers was about 9,500.  What they've done is, instead of looking at their suite meter program customers, they've looked at the entire universe of multi-unit residential units that are individually metered, that are about six units per building.  And that is not the suite meter program.


So if I could ask you to go to the documents brief, we have included --


MS. SEBALJ:  Can I just interrupt and mark that for purposes of the record?  Mark it as K1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  DOCUMENT BRIEF OF SSMWG.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.


MR. O'LEARY:  Hopefully this is convenient, rather than going to the actual evidence that has been filed in this proceeding, but this is a copy of the cost of service study that was filed by Toronto Hydro in December.


MR. QUESNELLE:  What tab again, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Tab 4, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. O'LEARY:  And just to put it back in a little context, as well, the Board ordered Toronto Hydro to produce this study much earlier in 2010 than it did.  It wrote a letter asking for an extension for reasons saying it was subject to certain delays.  They didn't give specific reasons, but you granted an extension such that it be filed as of December 1st.


So there already has been a delay before we even get to it.  They filed the report in December, and then we see what's in it.


If you flip over to page 2 at tab 4, this is the summary, and in the second paragraph, the author of the report, which is BDR -- and may there be no mistake.  BDR is taking instructions from Toronto Hydro.  BDR isn't developing its class or sub-class on its own.  BDR states it:

"...has now performed the study, based on 2009 cost and operating data, and 2009 consumption data from billing records.  In the absence of a definition instituted by THESL and/or approved by the OEB..."


Let's stop right there.  It's our submission that it is absolutely clear, as I will walk you through the history of what suite metering programs the smart sub-metering group has been responding to as an intervenor and specifically to Toronto Hydro, there is absolutely no question of the definition of the sub-group that was being asked.  So that is just plain wrong.


But for the purposes of this report, the authors go on to state that "the suite-metered sub-class", and in this report it has the acronym of SMSC:

"...was defined for purposes of the study as consisting of units in multi-unit residential buildings with more than six residential units, which are separately metered by THESL.  The customers meeting this definition were identified from THESL’s customer database, and their annual consumptions determined.  From this population of nearly 120,000 customers, a random sample..."


Et cetera, et cetera.  So right in their opening, they're acknowledging that they're into an entirely different group of customers than the Board had asked.


I'm going to confirm that through the words of the Board in the past decisions, but if I could take you to page 5 of that study, and this goes to my suggestion to this Panel that what was done was not inadvertent, in the first paragraph, the author of this report is actually referencing the Board's decision.  That's the 2010 rates decision.  The first paragraph reads:

"In its Decision, the OEB concluded that 'no judgment can be made regarding cross-subsidization without a proper cost allocation study' and that 'the results of a study completed by THESL will be informative to other utilities and to the Board as to how to advance utility rate structures on a province wide scale in response to the introduction of this competitive sub-metering business."


So right in the report, THESL is acknowledging what it was told to do.  It's clear, we submit, from that statement that what they're being asked to look at is a program that is competing with or is related to the competitive sub-metering business.


The ^submetering business is not in the business of the smart meter initiative and the government's program to roll out 700,000 or 800,000 smart meters into or onto residential homes and, in some instances, multi-unit buildings.  That was the subject of an entirely separate Board series of proceedings.  It's the subject of a different deferral account in terms of the cost.  It ultimately will be reviewed for prudence at a subsequent time.


But certainly what was at issue in the 2010 rate case and prior decision of this Board was the involvement of the utility in a competitive market activity, and namely smart sub-metering.


So the next sentence, it reads:

"The OEB ordered THESL to undertake a Cost of Service study for this potentially separate class of customers..."


So it's clear, even from the quotes from their own report, that what they've done is wrong.  Yet they go on, under the heading "Terminology", and they say:

"At issue is the distinction between residential premises that are units in multi-unit buildings, and residential premises of all other types."


So despite acknowledging up above that the interest of the Board was their activities relative or vis-à-vis the competitive market, they're saying in the first sentence of their terminology that, really, it's the whole world of multi-unit residential units versus the rest.  And that, we submit, is simply incorrect.


The final reference I'll take you to in the report is just to confirm what they've done is at page 7 there is a table 4.1.  And that just gives you a breakdown of the members of the class.  So they have compared, in the second column from the left, 578,000 is the total of the residential class.  They've subtracted 119,947 - call it 120 even - and have, for the purposes of this report, evaluated the cost to serve that large class against the cost to serve the balance of the residential ratepayers.  And that is simply not what was asked to be done.


And why is it important?  As we'll see, as we go through these materials, because the cost to -- the capital cost, the O&M cost, to our knowledge and what we've indicated in our evidence in prior proceedings, are significantly higher for the type of metering systems that are installed that are part of Toronto Hydro's suite metering program.


We're not talking about installing smart meters, the ones that may be on the side of your house, the ones that was part of the province's smart meter initiative and the one for which a review has been undertaken by the Board as to the equipment and the costs that were incurred.


We're talking about a separate electronic Quadlogic metering system which, as you'll see from past decisions, has a cost that is multiple of the numbers in this -- or that is indicated in this cost allocation study.  And what it means is that they have watered down the costs.  They may have been watering down or understating the revenues that are appropriate to be included in the study.


There are a whole host of ramifications which lead us to the conclusion that this report is of no value to the Board to determine whether there has been, and continues to be, a cross-subsidy.


And the concern that the sub-metering group has had in the past is simply this:  Toronto Hydro's practices - and there is no dispute about this - when they do an economic evaluation for a building, whether it's a new or even if it's in respect of a retrofit, they state in their conditions of service and they say it openly in the proceedings through their witnesses they do not include the cost of their Quadlogic suite metering system.  It's excluded in their economic evaluation.


So they do not ask -- you'll see from the very contracts that are in their evidence filed in this proceeding they do not ask the developers to contribute anything to the cost of these Quadlogic systems.


They look to recover the costs through rates, and, thus, the reason why the sub-metering group has been involved in the past.


We attempted last year, through the expert that we brought up at substantial expense, to try and indicate, through the evidence that Toronto Hydro provided us, that there was a cross-subsidy.  Unfortunately, it was difficult, as acknowledged in the Board's decision, to get all of the information that was necessary to come to a definitive conclusion, and, thus, the Board ordered the cost allocation study.


But the fact remains that Toronto Hydro is continuing to not ask developers to contribute anything to these systems, and it remains, therefore, a concern to our group, and we think to other ratepayers, that there is this cross-subsidy, because they are not recovering appropriate revenues from the suite metering program customers to cover all the costs of service.  And that's what the issue was.


Now, if I could turn you now to the end of our materials, there are two interrogatory responses that -- this is at tab 8.  And I'd ask you to go to 8B.  If you flip in ten pages, there's one of the interrogatories, but the two interrogatories I'm going to take you to, it's Interrogatory No. 7 and Interrogatory No. 9, so it's the tenth and eleventh page in under tab 8B.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm afraid we have a problem with printing, Mr. O'Leary.  It appears that we've gone from two-sided to one-sided in your document here.  We're missing every second interrogatory.  So you're after, again, 7 and 9?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And it would be the odd numbers that we're missing.


MR. O'LEARY:  Interrogatories 7 and 9.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Oh, they're not all copied the same way.  I'm missing the even ones.


MR. O'LEARY:  They may not be in numeric order.  I see that 8 may have gone in before 7.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  So we are after Interrogatory No. 7?


MR. O'LEARY:  Let's start with 9, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'll see if I can find it.


MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, best laid plans.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Have you got it?  Okay, thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  This is one of the questions that Toronto Hydro answered in this case, and relates to the evidence.  And in the question, which -- the reference to the question, we reference at Toronto Hydro's prefiled evidence, that there were 5,534 suite meters installed in 2009, and then we give the evidentiary reference, and that the site metering program had a capital budget of 3.3 million, and we provide the evidentiary reference for that.


Then we do the math.  This works out to $596.32 per meter, and that's just simply the result of 3.3 million divided by that number of meters in 2009.


So then we ask how the 297 used in the cost of service study -- and that's, remember I said the number was a lot lower, and that is the number that appears in the cost of service study.  For that 120,000 group, they used a number of 297.  So we asked them:  How do you explain this?  And they really didn't provide a detailed answer, and although we're not saying that this is one that a further answer is necessary, it's illustrative of the fact that the number will be a lot higher for the cost to install and serve the suite-metered^ customers than it is for the group they have used in their cost allocation study.


So what they do in their response is they say, Well, you can't -- the costs that are included in the 3.3 million are not directly attributable, because they may be equipment that they took off the shelf from the previous year.  There may be equipment that they installed in the subsequent years.  So it may not be dollar for dollar.


They certainly don't say that it's not a fair proxy.  Our point simply is, Members of the Panel, that the number is significantly higher than the one they have used in their cost allocation study.


And that's a number that is actually -- the 596 is a number, as you'll see as we go through, that is below the costs that PowerStream indicated, and they used the same Quadlogic system.  PowerStream indicated numbers, and the decision from this Board found, that the costs in that proceeding were around $680.


If we could flip back, then, to Interrogatory No. 7, and this is a response in this proceeding, our question -- this is the second round.  It relates to the cost allocation study.  The question relates to the sub-class they have used of 119,947.


And we asked Toronto Hydro to confirm the number of customers in this group for 2009 that are suite metered as a result of THESL's suite metering program.  They go on to state in their response that table 2 on page 5 of their exhibit shows total installations in 2008 and 2009 of 3,800 and 5,500, for a total of 9,423.  And as noted in the footnote, there is a lag between installation and the date the suite holder becomes a customer.

"However, this number reasonably represents the number of customers suite metered in 2009 as a result of THESL's suite metering program."


They didn't have any problem coming up with the number here.  They didn't have any problem putting that number in their evidence, so there shouldn't be any confusion about who we are talking about in terms of their suite metering program.  It's the 9,423 customers in 2009.


Mr. Chair, if I can now ask you to turn to tab 5?  And we're going back briefly a bit through recent history.  The purpose of this is to show you that there can be no doubt about what were the concerns of the Board when it ordered the cost allocation study.  And it starts back before the sub-metering group was even involved in these proceedings in a decision of May 15th, 2008.


This related to the application by Toronto Hydro.  It was looking for three-year cost of service approval and it got a two-year.  So relates to the years 2008 and 2009.


We've only reproduced portions of the decision, but it's only the relevant portions.  But if you go to the next page in under that tab, which is page 18, the heading of the decision is "Meters".


You'll see at the three bullets that the Panel that heard the decision at that time, you know, was looking at three different aspects of metering programs, and the two bottom bullets are "Smart meter installations to convert previously bulk metered condominiums", and the third bullet, "Smart meter installations to meet Ontario government's requirements".


So right off the bat, we know there's a difference.  The second bullet relates to the suite metering program which is of concern and of relevance here.


The third relates to the initiative that was commenced by the Province of Ontario and required of various LDCs.


We go to the next page, and the Board has identified the different costs that Toronto Hydro included in its application, first of all, under the smart meter conversion of bulk metered condominiums, which is the second line.  You will see they were looking at a cap-ex of 3.4 million, whereas for smart metering in 2008 it was 36 million.


For 2009, they were talking about 5.7 million versus the smart metering program, which is again the provincial initiative, of 34 million.


So they are separate issues altogether.  So beginning right at the beginning, we know that there are two different programs and there should not be overlap.


Under the heading at the bottom of the page, "Smart Meters for Condominiums", the Board addressed some of the concerns.  In this case, they were raised by Board counsel.  And through Board counsel, if you go to the next page under "Board's Findings", the second paragraph, the second paragraph:

"Board staff questioned whether sub-metering customers in condominiums who cause higher metering costs should be paying higher rates through a balancing contribution or through the creation of separate rate class, which would give effect to an allocation of costs appropriate to this category of customer."


That's exactly the issue back in 2008.  The Board then goes on, the very last paragraph under that heading:

"This is an issue that requires consideration in a more generic proceeding, with appropriate notice to affected parties, directed towards rate design, and cost allocation."


So there's the issue.  And I won't take you through it, but the next heading is "Smart meters mandated by the government", and that is the 34 million that Toronto Hydro was proposing to spend in 2008 and 2009 to put smart meters into or onto each of our residential homes, and it appears now they've got about 110,000 into multi-unit residential building, as well.  I'm not positive on that number, but it's a large number.  But it's a different program, different cost structure, different costs to serve.  It shouldn't be in the cost allocation study.


If I could then turn you to tab 6A.  These are the two decisions in the PowerStream decision.  By that point, the sub-metering working group had been struck, and we intervened and were accepted as an intervenor in that proceeding.


And there was one issue and one issue, only, that went to hearing, and that is the suite metering program of PowerStream.  And precisely the very same questions came up as Board Staff and Board counsel raised in the earlier Toronto Hydro, and that was whether or not there is a cross-subsidy, whether or not there is proper recovery through the revenues from those customers for the costs that are incurred for the very same type of equipment, which is the Quadlogic system that was being installed by PowerStream.


If I could turn you to the page 2 of the decision under the issues and the relief sought, the fifth line up, you'll see that the Board found that the cost of the condominium meter, Quadlogic - and that's the name of the system that most are using, because it's the most efficient and it's the smallest - is considerably more expensive, about $680, than the standard meter for an individual single home, about $250.


That is, we believe, referring to the smart meter, not your old mechanical meters that have all been replaced.  So there's what I indicated you to earlier is the finding of the Board as to the costs of these.


The second paragraph from the top of that page:

"The Board acknowledges the only issue at the hearing is the one brought forward by the sub-metering working group.  The issue is whether and to what extent PowerStream should be permitted to include in rates the cost and revenues associated with the condominium suite metering activities."


I should identify that since this time, we have now seen the market evolve so that is it now lawful to be including such equipment in residential tenancy buildings, so that as long as you comply with the appropriate regulatory requirements and the regulations, that this sub-metering is occurring in rental buildings, as well as condominiums.  So there is even a bigger role now that is part of the competitive market, at this point, the only activities that were taking place related to the conversion of bulk-metered condominiums and the providing services to a new building.


At the end of the day, the Board's decision was actually split.  There was a majority decision and a minority decision.  All three Members of the Panel had concluded that it was appropriate for the activity to continue, and approved the request by PowerStream to recover in rates the cost of their suite metering program.


But both the majority and the minority indicated that these concerns may have had credibility, but they weren't in a position, based on the evidence of the intervenor, to ultimately conclude that there is a cross-subsidy.  The majority felt this might be something that's appropriate for a generic proceeding.  The minority said, no, because it's a competitive marketplace, it's a matter that should be dealt with immediately, and that PowerStream should be ordered to undertake a cost allocation study to determine, once and for all, if there is in fact this cross-subsidy that has been raised as a concern.


But obviously PowerStream was not asked to do the cost allocation study, because that wasn't in the majority decision.  But the issue was brought forward to the Board, and you'll see that it is identified in last year's Toronto Hydro rate case as being an issue that has come up now on three occasions, for which the remedy is, or at least a step in the right direction, is to order Toronto Hydro to do a cost allocation study.


Under tab 7, I have included different portions of evidence and materials that relate to last year's rate case.  And, ultimately, the Board's findings and the Board's order in that decision is, we submit, the most important document to reference, because it is the order last year that Toronto Hydro must comply with, and we say they haven't.


And if I could ask you to turn to page 28, because it is the findings of the Board that are of importance.  The decision states:

"This is not the first time that this issue has come before the Board.  It was first addressed in THESL's last rate case and then the PowerStream case one year later."


So they just identified the very two cases I took you to.

"In both cases the Board deferred the matter to a generic proceeding.  This is now the third time the matter has arisen in a rate case.  For the reasons that follow the Board finds that THESL should undertake a cost allocation study related to its provision of suite metering services.  The study shall include an analysis of the implications of creating and maintaining a separate rate class for those customers served in this manner."


Panel, the Board did not ask Toronto Hydro on undertake a cost allocation study of what it takes to serve the entire universe of individually-metered multi-unit residential units.


In the next paragraph on page 29, the Board stated in its decision that it "is not convinced the evidence of Mr. Hanser -- that's the expert that the group brought up at some expense --

"...to establish cross-subsidization of suite metering by residential customers.  In making this finding, the Board is mindful of the limitations of Mr. Hanser's study, as acknowledged by Mr. Hanser himself, given the Working Group's inability to obtain from THESL all the information he considered relevant to his study."


We'll stop right there.  The goal last year was to request, and we tried, all of the information from Toronto Hydro that would allow Mr. Hanser, and his North-American-recognized expertise in cost allocations, to do a cost allocation study.  And we pulled and prodded, and we didn't get everything, and the Board acknowledges by that statement that that was in fact the case.  So:

"Accordingly, the Board will not adopt the remedy proposed by the Working Group and require THESL to exclude the suite metering program until a cost allocation study has been completed.  However, the Board has been convinced there is a pressing need for THESL to file such a cost allocation study in order for this matter to be properly addressed."


And we were not there.  The sub-metering group was not making submissions in respect of the smart meter initiative or the smart meter program and the hundreds of thousands of smart meters that were rolled out, because we don't have and we don't install such meters.  That portion of the proceeding and this issue related solely to the suite metering program.


Just to be clear, at tab B under 7, I've included a portion of the Procedural Order No. 2.  Again, this is last year's rate case.  This is -- attached to Procedural Order 2 is the Board's decision in respect to the issues list, and issue 8 that had been included on the draft issues list related to smart meters.


And if I could just read you the first two sentences:

"Toronto Hydro argued that this entire section should be removed, because it is not seeking approval of either a smart meter budget or to clear any smart meter related costs tracked through variance and deferral accounts.  The Board accepts this change."


So smart meters weren't even on the table.  They had nothing to do with suite meters, absolutely, but it's clear from the issues list that it was not part of the proceeding.  So there can't be any confusion by Toronto Hydro as to what they were being asked to do, because they weren't looking for any rate impacts as a result the smart meters in their 2010 rate case.


I don't want to belabour the point, but I will just, for the record, highlight at tab C I've included portions of the prefiled evidence.  At -- in the second page in, which is Exhibit A1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 13, Toronto Hydro confirms in the third paragraph, under the heading "Smart Meters", that it:

"...will continue to defer suite meter expenditures and revenues in 2010 and upon completion of its smart mere rollout will apply to the board for clearance of that deferral account in accordance with methodologies established by the Board."


So it's a separate and distinct program from suite metering.


I should have identified, in the very first paragraph, Toronto Hydro states that, as of June 30th, 2009, THESL had installed 611,000 residential and small general service smart meters.  So it's got nothing to do with their suite metering program.


Further in, and I don't think I need to take you to it, but just for the record, Exhibit D1, tab 7, schedule 1, table 2, Toronto Hydro last year set out -- this is a table about five pages further, but from the evidence, indicating that their capital budget for 2010, the test year, was 2.4 million.


And about four pages further, we get to their evidence about suite metering.  And this is D1, tab 8, schedule 7, page 3 of 3, and there's a heading "Suite Metering".  And two-thirds of the way down that paragraph, it reads:

"In consideration of anticipated requests for THESL to provide such services in both new and existing condominium buildings, the forecasted capital spend is 2.4 million in 2010 for a total of 5,400 individual suite meter installations."


So their own evidence, Mr. Chair, was clear that saw it as a separate program, a much smaller program, but one that is directly competing with the sub-metering group in a competitive market.


If I can turn you to the last two pages of tab C.  There are -- first of all, go to the second page in.  This is table 5.  This is under the heading, the part of their evidence, "Loads, Customers and Revenue".  And this table, according to their evidence, is:

"The following table provides the detail and the number of new suite-metered customers expected over the 2009/2010 period."


And then they include their actuals, and then their forecasts for 2009 and in 2010.  In fact, those numbers are cumulative.  They are less than what we understand are the actuals now, but they were forecasting still a number which is distinct and apart from the smart meter program.


Then in their own evidence, if you flip to the next page, which is part of their cost allocation study run that they did in last year's rate case, I would refer you to the bottom of that document.  You'll see there is LDC specific 1, 2, and 3.  And this relates to meters, the heading at the top sheet "17.1 Meter Capital".


And we asked an IR, and I'll point that out to you, because it's our materials last year, but we asked an IR about those numbers, and specific 1, where there is -- you'll see that under the first column, "Residential 1, number of."  So we're talking about the number of meters.  There's 558,000.  For the purpose of the cost allocation exercise for rates last year, they used a figure of 558,000, but to the column to the left, it's got "cost per meter installed".  You will $158.75.  The IR that we asked, and the response, indicates that primarily relates to their smart meter program, which is part of the government mandate of smart meter.


Below that, you'll see a cost of $550, a there is a number of 31,275.  And THESL's response was that number includes about 9,000 suite meters, which, again, suggests that the number is $550, a lot closer to the actual cost and significantly greater than the one they used in their cost allocation study.


So by lumping in the extra 110,000 customers, they watered it down, and then they are able to come up with conclusions with no help in terms of determining whether there is a cross-subsidy in the competitive market for unit sub-metering.


Tab D of 7 of our document consists of some of the interrogatories that were asked last year, and I would ask you to flip in five pages from the beginning.  At question (d), we asked, and I won't read it to you, but:

"Please calculate the fully allocated internal costs for..."


And we attempted to identify all of the activities that would relate to suite metering, the use of the Quadlogic system, and asked for Toronto Hydro to provide those costs.  You'll see on the next page, in their response to (d):  

"THESL has not yet done a fully allocated cost study."


So, again, no response.  They didn't provide us with the material, and that became painfully obvious that what they were doing was avoiding the ultimately necessary exercise of undertaking the cost allocation study.


But I point you to that specifically, because these are the types of things they should be doing for the purposes of the cost allocation study.  We're not sure if that happened or not, because the study that was done was inappropriate; therefore, we have not asked questions about it, because it would be futile to spend the money to ask questions about a study that relates to an entirely different class than you asked them to examine.  But these are the type of costs that we're looking at.


If you then flip to the next page, which is our Interrogatory No. 7 from last year, we asked for a copy of the various agreements between Toronto Hydro and condominium developers, and they responded by producing a copy of -- very next page.  It's the smart meter installation and service agreement.


So this is the document that -- the contract that Toronto Hydro requires condominium developers to execute.  And the second page of that at section 5 is supply and installation.  And it states that:

"Subject to Section 5.2 and Schedule 3, Toronto Hydro shall design, supply and install the Smart Meter System at the Building as described in Schedule 1 (the 'Work') at no cost to the Customer."


So as I said at the outset that -- there's no debate about this.  They are holding out and marketing their program to developers saying, It's going to cost you nothing.


Then we flip over to the next page.  We've included schedule 1 from that agreement.  And this is the list of activities and equipment that should be the subject of the cost allocation study.  So schedule 1, as we just saw in the agreement, is the work they do at no cost.


I won't walk you through it all, but it's not inconsequential.  It is, item 1, "supply a suite meter system".  They are going to supply a smart meter for every residential suite, one for the common area, and then one to measure the total load of the building.  That looks and sounds like a bulk meter to me.


So they are doing virtually exactly the same as what a competitive market unit sub-metering company does.


Sub 2, "components of the smart meter system".  You'll see the first three words, the first three bullets, Quadlogic, the very same systems that in PowerStream we are dealing with and the very same systems that I understand most of the members of the working group are dealing with.


And the reason why they are attractive to developers is because they can squeeze into a small box many unit meters so that it that takes up a lot less space than a traditional smart meter, and that saves the developer the cost and expense of devoting and allocating to 100 or 100,000 individual smart meters the space that it would occupy.


Three, "installation of suite meter system, design of the suite meter system, construction, testing, sealing, project management, inspection, commissioning."


It's our submission that these are steps that go far beyond simply replacing a mechanical meter on the wall.  They are actually getting in and doing design and work beyond what you would anticipate.  These are costs that also should be examined on a cost allocation study.  It is not apparent that that happened, but that's the next round of questions that we have.


But if you do agree with our submissions, we would request that your order make it clear the cost allocation study should specifically identify and determine the cost to provide the services set out in schedule 1, in addition to all the others that are anticipated, but these are the ones that they are holding out and marketing to the various developers they deal with.


The last two pages under that tab 7D, if you go to the second last page, it is interrogatory 19.  I've included that only to make it clear we asked Toronto Hydro whether or not they had allocated any of the costs of the suite metering program to their smart metering.  Their answer was no, appropriately, but we asked in any event.


So that means they can separate, if I can use the expression, church and state very easily, because they have done it.


The very last interrogatory, as I indicated before when I took you to that table and we saw the price per unit was $550, that's their evidence and their cost allocation run when they did it for their 2010 rate case.


The last bullet in this interrogatory confirms that of the 31,000 identified in that table, 9,000 are suite meters.  I just wanted to connect the dots on that.


If I can then take you to tab E, which is a portion of the settlement agreement which was filed in last year's proceeding, and just flip you to page 6 of that, which is the third page in?   And all parties had agreed that if the group was successful in demonstrating there was a cross-subsidy and the Board had decided to exclude certain aspects of the costs they were looking to recover in rates from the rate order, that this would have, as the first sentence of the second full paragraph states:

"The costs associated with suite metering activities are included in rate base, OM&A and potentially other consequential aspects of the calculation of revenue requirement.  The figure set forth in the settlement proposal includes those amounts filed by THESL."


So at the end of the day, you had ordered them to exclude that from the revenue requirement.  According to the settlement agreement, that is what all the parties were looking for.


So, again, we are looking at the impact of the suite metering program, not the smart metering program, not -- as you'll see in one of the IRs I'm going to take you to, it appears there are even a number of residential units in multi-unit buildings that have mechanical meters that they have included in this 119,000 sub-class.


Under tab 8A, which is the prefiled evidence that has been filed in this proceeding, the first is the capital.  You'll see that for 2011, Toronto Hydro is proposing a spend of - this is table 1 - 2.6 million.  They then go on to describe the program on the next page.  And at the last page under that tab, you'll see the numbers that they have confirmed as actuals in 2008 and 2009.  Table 2, if you add the 3,800 with the 5,500, you come up with 9,423.


So there's no difficulty knowing what is the group that should be examined, and they haven't done that.


So in terms of the cost allocation study, we aren't even - the group, the sub-metering group - isn't even in a position to ask interrogatories, because the study is completely of no benefit to the group in, we say to the Board, responding to the questions that the Board has had now in three different proceedings.


Therefore, our first and primary request here today is that you order Toronto Hydro to undertake the cost allocation study as ordered last year.


There are some other interrogatories that we have asked that I will briefly make submissions in respect to.  And if I turn you tab 1 of our documents book, which contains a copy of the notice of motion.  Appendix A to that notice of motion contains a list of all of the interrogatories and answers which are the subject of this motion.


Interrogatory No. 1 probably requires a little bit of context, but, at the end of the day, we submit that each of the questions asked here are relevant for the purposes of the issues that are properly addressed in a rate proceeding.


The initial reference is to file 2010-0233.  That is an application by Toronto Hydro for a unit sub-metering licence.  In addition to the fact they are carrying on suite metering and they have received approval from the Board in the past, they are now seeking a licence to operate as a licensed unit sub-metering company.


Our group submits that if THESL intends to undertake these activities either within the utility or through an affiliate, there are a number of questions that are appropriately raised in this proceeding.  If it's within the utility, there will be costs.  Are they looking to recover those costs?  Are they reasonable and are they prudent?  Is it needed?


If it's going to be undertaken outside of utility or outside a utility account, what safeguards and mechanisms are going to be included to ensure there is no cross-subsidy; to ensure that the requirements of the Affiliate Relationships Code are met?


These are issues that come up in many rate proceedings and are appropriately raised by intervenors to ensure that the safeguards and the concerns that are expressed in the Affiliate Relationships Code and in past Board decisions about inappropriate activities and cross-subsidy do not occur.  Yet what we have is a series of non-responses.


Question (a) was asked, whether THESL by this licensing application intends to offer competitive unit sub-metering and to compete directly.  It's our submission that it is certainly of interest to ratepayers, and we would submit should be of concern to the Board, whether or not a monopolistic utility is looking or planning to become involved in a competitive market activity. The Board has expressed concerns about this in the past, and this is the time to raise it.


Question (b), if Toronto Hydro intends to use the licence in order to acquire an existing sub-metering provider, that's a possibility.  They may believe that it's necessary to go out and to purchase one.  Questions about the cost to purchase, who is going to be paying those costs, whether or not they are intending to roll all of the suite metering customers into that new purchased acquisition, who is going to be the owner of it, there is all kinds of cost consequences and competitive market and whether this is appropriate conduct questions that follow from these types of questions.


If it is their intention to simply purchase the -- an existing sub-metering company and to operate it outside of the utility, say so, and then it will be -- the issues will be limited to Affiliate Relationships Code or whether there is appropriate safeguards to divide the accounts, but to not give a response we submit is contrary to both the rules of the Board and proper conduct of this type of proceeding.


(c), if Toronto Hydro intends to use a sub-metering licence to carry on business beyond acquiring an existing unit sub-metering provider, please provide examples of situations where it intends to undertake unit sub-metering rather than unit smart metering.


And all this sounds very confusing because the names of these different activities now so intertwined, but basically the bottom line is:  Are you planning on carrying on both your suite metering program and a unit smart metering, or are you planning on combining the two; and, if so, what is the impact on the existing customers, what is the impact on future customers, and are there charges that are not going to be included in this particular proceeding that -- or are there charges that you are ultimately going to be looking to be recovered either in this proceeding and seek approval in another proceeding?


I won't belabour it, but the series of questions that are asked here, each one goes to different aspects of the same questions and concerns.


To move along, if I could turn you to page 3 of that interrogatory at question (j), the question was:

"Please explain in detail what steps, processes and/or rules would be implemented to address the following concerns."


And then we identify them:

"THESL's electricity distribution business cross-subsidizing its unit sub-metering business."


So we're asking a series of questions, each of which, if you go and look at the Affiliate Relationships Code, that language is taken right out of the code.  We're asking whether or not THESL is going to put into place appropriate safeguards, whether it's within the utility or outside the utility, to ensure that things we know are incorrect shouldn't be occurring.  And they simply declined to respond.


I, for one, would submit that that is inappropriate, and just the response alone does not satisfy the rules.  To simply say you don't -- if you go back to the response right at the beginning, to say that you don't accept the citation of a separate proceeding as a basis for a question suggests that the only evidence that could be referenced is Toronto Hydro's.


Well, certainly that can't be right.  If there's something on the record from a prior proceeding, you have the right to reference that and ask a question about it.  How are things different?


They have filed the licence application; very little information in that proceeding about what they are planning on doing.  And there is every belief that it could have cost and customer ramifications, and this is the place to ask those questions.


We get onto the next page, question (l).  It's the question that immediately follows a response to question (k).  And the response, when they are asked about the financial impact of what they're proposing, if there are any direct references in their evidence in this proceeding to it, they say:

"THESL will not undertake sub-metering activities within the regulated utility, and therefore there are no direct references, financial or otherwise, to THESL's planned unit sub-metering activities in this rate application."


They do not say what they are planning on doing, just that it's not going to take place in the regulated utility, and there is nothing in the evidence here.  But that in and of itself doesn't mean you can't ask questions about what it is they are intending to do and is there -- are there the appropriate safeguards to ensure there isn't a cross-subsidy.


Question (l) reads:

"Please advise if the proposed unit sub-metering business will be providing any services to the electricity distribution business."


A very obvious Affiliate Relationships Code question, because if it's going to be providing services, then there has to be some sort of either deemed revenue or some safeguards in place so that it doesn't cause prejudice to ratepayers.


Then in (m), which is a question that is commonly asked by ratepayers, which is to provide copies of strategic plans, budgets, minutes, marketing materials.  What is the internal documentation that THESL has in respect of this activity?


And it doesn't say that it's too hard to get, because that is not an appropriate response, because that's the kind of production you see in all kinds of rate proceedings.  To simply say that because it's -- they reference the response to (a), which is, Because you've referenced another proceeding, we don't accept the right to ask the question.


We submit that that simply can't be right.


The remaining three questions that are at issue are the 11, 12 and 13 which were answered on -- in part, on Monday of this week, and they are the last five pages under tab 1.  We have included the actual responses of Toronto Hydro, and we are not looking for anything further in respect of interrogatory 11, so that is not necessary for you to deal with.


But there are outstanding aspects to 12 and 13, and I need to put the question asked in interrogatory 12 into some context. When, and to our knowledge, this is a fairly recent development, but when Toronto Hydro provides an offer to connect to a residential building developer of a condominium or apartment building, it has been required, as result of the Board's compliance order, to -- if the developer wishes it, to produce an offer to connect which contemplates that a private unit sub-metering company can meter the units in the building.


So there are two -- at least two options that a developer has.  They can choose Toronto Hydro to suite meter the building, or they can choose a private competitive smart sub-metering company to unit-sub-meter the building.


Toronto Hydro has, to our knowledge, fairly recently taken the position that for the purposes of their economic evaluation and their obligation to return the expansion deposit, which can sometimes be substantial -- I've seen $1 million as the required expansion deposit.  We're not talking about capital contribution.  We're talking about expansion deposit.


They are taking the position that under the Distribution System Code, they have the right in certain instances to retain a portion of the expansion deposit, which the sub-metering group and developers take the position is incorrect.


They have taken the position - "they" being Toronto Hydro - that if they suite meter the building, it always remains a residential building, and that if you have forecast that you will build 100 units and you connect 100 units in the building, you get 100 percent of your expansion deposit back; whereas, if a competitive market unit sub-meterer meters a building, it's a commercial building now and you are only entitled to receive that percentage of the demand load that exactly materializes.


So, as you can imagine, in a significant -- well, in every building, the electrical contractors that design the building are going to always provide for transformation and load capacity that exceeds, with a margin of safety, the actual load that they anticipate.


So what it means, that if your building only achieves 85 or 90 percent of the forecast load, you're going to lose, of $1 million, $150 or $100,000.  This has been a concern expressed to us by various developers, as it acts as a disincentive for them to ever consider a competitive unit sub-metering company.


Because they know if the plans call for 300 units -- and it doesn't matter who meters the building.  The units are going to be built, and the economic evaluation that they have done for themselves versus what they have done in the situation where the building is unit sub-metered should reflect the revenues that they are anticipating for both.


So it's not a revenue issue here.  It's strictly a policy decision they have made.  But, by this, they are creating a disincentive, because the developer knows that if they go with Toronto Hydro, they will get 100 percent of the expansion deposit back.


So we asked in this question, having given that context -- we first identify just what I've said, in so many words, and then at page 2, if -- this is the fourth page in from the back of tab 1.  We've quoted section 3.2.23 of the Distribution System Code.  I believe it's important to read it just to understand where the subject of our concern has arisen, and there are revenue requirement implications of this.  That's one of the reasons why it was asked and why we're here asking for a complete answer.  The code says:

"Once the facilities are energized..."


This relates to expansion deposits:

"Once the facilities are energized and subject to 3.2.22, 23 and 24, the distributor shall annually return the percentage of the expansion deposit in proportion to the actual connections, (for residential developments) or actual demands (for commercial and industrial developments) that materialized in that year.  Example, if 20 percent of the forecasted connections or demand materialize in that year, then the distributor shall return to the customer 20 percent of the expansion deposit." 


It goes on to say:

"If at the end of the customer horizon the forecasted connections for residential developments or forecasted demand for commercial and industrial developments have not materialized, the distributor shall be allowed to retain the remaining portion of the expansion deposit."


So Toronto Hydro is saying that by virtue of one of the members of the sub-metering group going in and metering the units in the building, you are now going to be judged in terms of your expansion deposit return.  As a commercial development, it is only the load -- the percentage of the load that materializes that you are going to recover; whereas because we do it, it's going to be the number of connections and we keep 100 percent.


So, first of all, we take the position that that is an incorrect interpretation of that, but by virtue of the fact that they are retaining these amounts, it means there are perhaps hundreds of thousands of dollars of expansion deposits that have to be accounted for and should have an impact on rates.


Now, our position is they shouldn't be there and that would have a rate implication.  There may be ratepayers that take the position that they should be there, Toronto Hydro, but they have to account for them.  And at question (e), we asked:

"Has THESL forecast the additional expansion deposit revenues that it will retain as a result of the above expansion deposit policy which it has adopted?"


Its answer, the second last page at (e), is:

"Expansion deposits are deposits, not revenues."


That's not an answer.  That's not helpful.  How does that assist whether or not they have embedded in their numbers in this proceeding amounts that either appropriately or inappropriately shouldn't be there and should be the subject a fair and appropriate debate?


In terms of that response, we would like the details of the numbers that they forecast; and, if they haven't forecast numbers, why not, because their policy should be generating and is generating, to our knowledge, dollars which would tend to reduce the revenue requirement.


We submit these are appropriate questions that should be asked and responded to in detail.


Our last interrogatory is at 13, the very last page at tab 1.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Before you go further, Mr. O'Leary, just to make sure I've captured your modified request for the Interrogatory No. 12, can you just recap again?  Is it -- of what components of the response?  Is it just (e) and the analysis there, or are there other elements, as well?


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, I believe a good portion, now that we have the answer that's there, leads to mostly argument, but (e) is, our view, the critical one.  But I'm not trying to understate what (e) was asking.  We're looking for the details of the numbers of their forecast, and, if not, why not, but it is (e) that we're looking at primarily, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. O'LEARY:  Interrogatory 13, the group asked that 

"In respect of its expansion deposit return policy..."

So the very issue I just walked you through.

"...and the different application of that policy to developers who obtain suite metering either from Toronto Hydro or a smart sub-metering provider, please provide copies of all internal memoranda, notes, communications, business plan, executive management team minutes, e-mails and all correspondence from third parties which relate to this issue."


We have included a request for everything.  Toronto Hydro's response is that would simply be too onerous.  There is no indication they made any effort to determine if any of the requested information exists.  And it's our submission that that's an appropriate question and that they have not responded appropriately and consistently with the rules.


When you consider the fact that there's probably a small group at Toronto Hydro that are involved in new residential connections and that there is a relatively small executive management team that would have ultimately developed this policy, we take the position the policy is wrong and that there are rate implications from it.


We submit that it is relevant to see:  What's the thinking behind it?  When did it occur?  Because it if occurred after the compliance proceeding, we submit that there may be ramifications to that.


But these are the -- unless you ask for this information, you'll have no basis to take a position, and if there are certain communications with third parties which are too onerous to go and locate, that's one thing, but to simply give a blanket response and say, It's all too onerous, we're not even going to look, we submit that is unacceptable.  So we ask for that question to be answered, as well, sir.


I won't take you to the rules, but it's Rule 29 that deals with the obligation on a utility to respond to interrogatories, and they have an obligation to set out in detail why they can't respond to it.  And that just hasn't happened here.


I said at the beginning I would make some submissions on timing in terms of this proceeding and how we don't want to be the ones that are the catalyst for delay.


It should be recognized that, as I indicated earlier, this cost allocation study, which we presume will take more than several days to redo -- whereas perhaps the answers to the other interrogatories could be ordered to be made and responded to within a week, we accept that having BDR redo the cost allocation study is perhaps going to take more time.


That does mean, and without question puts in jeopardy completely, our ability as an intervenor to participate in the technical conference.  We have not asked any questions.  The Board required questions to be filed yesterday because of this motion today and because of our inability, frankly, given the lack of responses.  But the technical conference, which memory serves is next Monday, it means we can't participate in that.


There's a settlement conference.  Now, the issue of the cost allocation study you have ordered should go to hearing, which we understand and we interpret as meaning the Board wishes to hear evidence on this.  But the evidence you have is not helpful.  Is the Toronto Hydro going to be able to have the cost allocation study redone, filed and allow parties the right to consider it, including by our own experts, to ask interrogatories, to proceed with a technical conference in respect of it, and to ultimately be ready to go on the planned hearing date?


I don't see any hope for that.  So the question is:  What do we do?


One suggestion would be to create a separate phase to this proceeding solely for issues that are related to that.  And they are important issues to the group, and we submit, based upon the Board's own words from last year and its decision to require this matter to go to hearing at the Board.  And we understand in the licence application, where the Board ordered the cost allocation study to be filed there, as well.  It's of no help to the Board, we submit, in that application either.


So the remedy to prevent an impact on the balance of this proceeding is to create a separate phase for it.  We don't like that.  We don't like it for the obvious reason.  We see this as another step, with the goal of attempting to delay the inevitable.  As long as you keep pushing down the road any decision in respect of whether there's a cross-subsidy, you continue to be able to operate.


If we are correct that there is a cross-subsidy and something should be done -- and there's a number of things that can be done, which I'll speak to in a second.  They are not just creating a sub rate class, but it means that then Toronto Hydro has been permitted to continue in an activity which should not be taking place.


We submit that there are other mechanisms, and it was the Board - and it was an appropriate request - asking Toronto Hydro to consider whether a separate sub rate class is appropriate, and that may be one remedy, but there are other remedies, as well, including simply removing it from the revenue requirement.  You are not allowed to recover from rates the cost of your suite metering program, or requiring it to be done outside of the utility, subject to appropriate safeguards.


These are all things that will be argued and debated down the road, but first you need the cost allocation study.  And until you have that, and until we're able to deal with it in a fair and appropriate fashion, Toronto Hydro continues to do the same thing.


So they win by the delay.  Our group, and we submit ratepayers, lose as a result.


This is not, as you know, the first time we've come forward, and we submit that it was absolutely clear.  And the reason why I painfully took you through all of those past decisions was to show that there's no one that could reasonably believe that the rate class they were being asked to consider were 119,000 multi-unit residential units.  Absolutely not.


So what was done was, we submit, not accidental, and we believe the only way to fairly deal with that is to simply say that, for the purposes of going forward, Toronto Hydro should remove from its requested revenue requirement for 2011 the costs of the suite metering program until this matter has been dealt with, and then it will give it some incentive to actually deal with it in a timely fashion.


So if it was to come back, subject to your order, it would be required to remove from rates the -- all aspects of the suite metering program for 2011 O&M, capital and any other cost consequences that flow from that.


Our submission is that in addition to the order we're asking for, that is an appropriate way to deal with this in a timely way.  Those are our submissions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.  Any questions?


MS. TAYLOR:  Your last statement regarding the removal from the revenue requirement, obviously you've got expenditures in the revenue requirement from previous years, and you are not suggesting as part of that alternative that the Board remove the historical expenditures, as well, are you?  Just at the margin going forward?


MR. O'LEARY:  No, Ms. Taylor.  There have been approvals in the past, and we accept those prior approvals.  So the consequences of those should remain.


MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.


MS. HARE:  I just want to confirm you don't a problem with BDR redoing the study; is that correct?


MR. O'LEARY:  We have no concern with BDR as a consultant, but we have concerns about the directions they have been given.


MS. HARE:  That's what I heard you say at the beginning.  That's why I'm asking.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is there any parties that are going to speak in favour of the motion?  Mr. Buonaguro, do you plan on making submissions?  Do you have anything that you want to --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I was going to make a short submission.  I don't know if you'd characterize it as in favour or opposed to the motion.  It's more of a --


MR. QUESNELLE:  How long would you be looking at?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe five minutes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we do that, and, Mr. Rodger, we'll hear from Mr. Buonaguro, and take a break, and 

then -- does that work for you?  Okay, Mr. Buonaguro.

Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I'm limiting my comments to one interrogatory, in particular, and it's the interrogatory which I think captures the bulk of the submissions that we heard today, and has to do with request to redo the cost allocation study.


And for reference's sake, I believe the actual exhibit number that that particular interrogatory response was given by THESL in responding to it is Exhibit R1, tab 10, schedule 26.  And it appears at K1.1 -- Exhibit K 1.1 in tab 1, appendix A to the motion at page 8, and is it is referred to as Interrogatory 13 in the second round, interrogatories by the SSMWG.


That's essentially the one that says --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, can you help us with the reference again on the exhibit?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  K1.1, tab 1, and it's appendix A to the motion.  So you to have skip to -- past the actual motion, and it's page 8.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That essentially sets out the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group's position about the appropriateness of the study, full stop, i.e., the allegation that the study that was performed by BDR at the request of THESL is simply non-compliant.


And I'm concerned about that particular interrogatory because, in our view, why you might characterize -- and I'm not saying one way or the other anything about the other interrogatories and the request for relief from them, but this particular interrogatory and the relief that's requested with respect to this interrogatory isn't really, we think, a motion for further answers to interrogatories.


It's really akin to a motion for summary judgment on a fundamental issue, which is whether or not THESL has complied with a Board direction from a previous proceeding.  On that basis, we sort of view it differently from the rest of the motion.


And I think my friend at various times talked about the way in which BDR went about the study, and suggested that they were clearly under the direction of THESL, and I think the last thing he said about it was it was clearly not accidental that the study came out that particular way.


And I would think that before I would want to make submissions as to whether or not THESL fundamentally met the Board's directive or not, and then, therefore, whether or not a new study is required in a short time frame and that there should be a phase 2 to the proceeding, I would want to hear evidence from BDR about exactly how the study came about, how they made their decisions in terms of defining the class that led to their, I guess, 120,000 or so customers being within that class, so on and so forth.


I would want to ask them questions about what the real difference is between the suite-metered customers that my friend is talking about on behalf of the Suite Sub-Metering Working Group versus the smart meters that were included in the class that ended up in the study.  Those types of questions, I would want to have that information on the record from the perspective of BDR before contemplating an order which essentially says that THESL did not meet a directive of the Board from a previous proceeding.


I would think that that could be done either at the tech conference next week -- well, I don't want to speak for Mr. O'Leary, because he obviously has a more specific interest, but the kind of questions I would want to ask I could do at the tech conference or the oral hearing.


But I do think that, in fairness to THESL, it is an allegation that they have fundamentally failed to do what they were asked to do, and it's not simply a request for further information through interrogatories, and I think it should be treated as such.  And I think, in fairness, that requires a little more information on the record.


I have no comments on the rest of the motion in terms of whether or not they're appropriate interrogatories or not.  I'm leaving that to the other two parties, but I wanted to raise that specific issue with respect to what is essentially the fundamental question that is being raised here through a motion for further interrogatory responses.


Subject to any questions, those are my submission


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Okay, with that, why don't we take a morning break, then, and we will resume at 11:20.


--- Recess taken at 10:59 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Please be seated.  Something came up at the break that we needed to discuss.


I just suggest perhaps Mr. Rodger, speaking for THESL.

Submissions by Mr. Rodger:


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  As was said in the outset, sir, I've also handed out a brief of materials, and perhaps that could be marked, as well, please.


MS. SEBALJ:  The Toronto book of authorities marked as K1.2.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2: Toronto Hydro-Electric's book of authorities.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  Panel, I would like to turn first to the issue about the cost allocation study that Toronto Hydro was directed by the Board in its last rate case to produce for this proceeding.  I suggest that the issue in the motion is not the substantive issue in the main case, but only whether Toronto Hydro has met the requirements of the Board's directive in describing that cost allocation study.


So the issue before you, in my view, needs to focus on how suite metering was defined for purposes of that study that the Board directed Toronto Hydro to prepare.


Now, my friend has gone through a lot of history, and I don't need to repeat that, but there is just one aspect that I think is relevant that leads up to the last rate case for Toronto from which the directive came.


And if you turn to my tab 1 of my book of authorities, smart metering was defined in the Board's notice of proposal to amend the Distribution System Code and issue a new smart sub-metering code, and that is EB-2007-0772.  And I have an excerpt in tab 1.


And if you go to page 2 of tab 1, under paragraph (b), "Smart metering versus smart sub-metering", the Board indicated as follows:

"The Board uses the term 'smart metering' to describe the situation in which a licensed distributor individually meters every condominium unit and the condominium's common areas with a smart meter.  In this scenario, each unit will become a residential customer of the licensed distributor and each unit and the common areas must have a separate account with the licensed distributor."


Then further on, on that page, under part (c), "Smart Metering", the Board says:

"The Board has previously determined in rates proceedings related to smart metering activities of certain distributors that smart metering is a part of the distribution activity that is already covered by the distributors' distribution licences.  As there is no distinction between smart metering condominiums and other residences, the Board has determined that only licensed distributors can smart meter condominiums."


My point here is, Panel, that whether you refer to smart meters or suite meters, while different technologies may be used, you are getting to the same end results, individually metered units.


Now, Mr. O'Leary in his submissions, he, after referring to several documents, went back to the Board's last decision in the  Toronto Hydro rates case and said that was a really important thing to refer to in this motion, and we agree with that.


So let's take a look at how that decision, Board decision, dealt with suite metering.  And here, if you turn to tab 2 of my package of materials and you turn to page 3, you will see, first of all - and this is the Board's decision in THESL, EB-2009-0139 - that, first of all, on February 4th, 2010, the Board announced its acceptance of the settlement agreement.


If you go over the page to -- over to page -- turn to tab 3, which is an excerpt of the settlement agreement dated April 9, 2010 in the Toronto Hydro case, and you go to page 2, and this lists the various parties that were involved in that settlement.  And you'll see that the -- on page 2, the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group was a member of that process and a part of the settlement agreement.


Now, what constitutes suite metering, it was agreed to as part of the settlement agreement.  If you turn the page at tab 3, which is page 15 of the settlement agreement, you'll see this whole discussion came under what was issue 7 in that case, cost allocation and rate design:  Is Toronto Hydro's cost allocation appropriate?


If you look at the opposing party notes lower down on that page, it reads as follows:

"The SSMWG views THESL's treatment of residential customers residing in individually-metered multiple-unit residential unit, example, suite-metered customers, as inappropriate."


Then the settlement agreement goes on to say:

"THESL and SSMWG agree..."


These parties agree:

"...that the scope of this issue can be narrowed to 'Is Toronto Hydro's cost allocation in respect of residential customers residing in individually-metered multiple-unit residential units ('suite metered customers') appropriate."


And this exact approach is also repeated in 7.2, which was also approved, the same type of language.


So my submission, Mr. Chairman, is that the settlement agreement provides an absolutely crystal clear definition of what the parties in this case, both THESL and Mr. O'Leary's client, agreed to in terms of what constitutes suite meters.  It is residential customers residing in individually-metered multiple-unit residential units.


This definition was agreed to by my friend's client, was accepted by the Board.  If you go to tab 4, the first page is page 25 of the Toronto Hydro decision.  You'll see that the Board took verbatim this same description as an unresolved issue:

"Is THESL's cost allocation in respect of residential customers residing in individually-metered multi-unit residential building ('suite-metered customers') appropriate?"


Now, as you've already been taken to, if you flip over a couple of pages to page 29 of the decision?  So by this time, we've had a settlement agreement.  The parties have agreed to the terminology.  The Board has adopted it, and then the Board has then directed, at the top of page 29:

"For the reasons that follow, the Board finds that THESL should undertake a cost allocation study related to provision of suite metering services."


And we know how suite metering services was defined.  We've just gone through that.  It's the multi-unit residential customers.


So we then go on to tab 6.  We know that Toronto Hydro retained BDR to carry out the cost allocation study.  And you'll see in the study - and Mr. O'Leary referred to this, as well - BDR adopted the same language that was out of the Board's decision.  If you look at the title of the report on page 1 of tab 6, "Cost of Service Study for Individually-Metered Suites in Multi-Unit Residential Buildings", right out of the settlement agreement, right out of the Board's decision.


The Board decision also said there may be merit in the establishment of a separate rate class for multi-unit residential customers that are served directly by THESL through it's the suite metering provision.  That was page 29 of the decision.


And on page 2 of the BDR report, BDR went on to identify this sub-class of suite-metered customers, which was used for the study, and it settled on multi-unit residential buildings, meaning buildings with more than six residential units.


So I submit to you, Panel, that it was absolutely clear what THESL was directed to do, and THESL complied with the Board's directive.


What we have essentially heard from my friend this morning is that what he is attempting to do through this motion is to change what the Board approved and directed THESL to do, and now impose a new and different definition of suite metering.


And Mr. O'Leary's client, they are advancing now a new definition that is technology-specific.  The suite metering group, their meaning of suite metering is that it is restricted to buildings that utilize Quadlogic-type electronic metering systems.  And we submit that this notion should just be rejected entirely and that the motion should be dismissed.


There is no basis for the Board to insert a new definition of suite meters at this time.  It is not part of the settlement agreement or on this whole topic that was adopted by the Board and adopted by my friend's client.  It was not referenced in the Board's decision on this topic, and, most importantly, it was not identified at all in the directive that actually went to Toronto Hydro and was the basis of the study that is before you in this case, the BDR statement.


Now, in Mr. O'Leary's motion materials at paragraph 5, he states, and I'm quoting now:

"The SSMWG has made it abundantly clear in all of its previous interventions in OEB proceedings that its interests relate to THESL's suite metering program, which is specifically the installation of Quadlogic-type electronic metering systems."


And I suggest to you that if this was really their thin focus, then when they agreed to the settlement agreement or in their submissions, final submissions at the last rate case, they would have asked for a cost allocation study on this thin slice of technology.  It would have been obvious to ask for that, but they didn't.  They have asked for a cost allocation study on the multi-unit residential consumers, and that's what they got.


At tab 5 on paragraph 43, that's where we have my friend's client asking for, quote/unquote, "a fully allocated cost study".  That was it.


Now, I'd just offer a few other comments about my friend's request for this technology-specific application of suite meters. First of all, technology changes; it comes and goes.  While THESL uses some Quadlogic-type metering systems in its suite meter portfolio of technologies, it uses others.  And we know that new technologies are coming on the market and THESL expects this to continue.


So to try and focus on one slice of technology at any given point of time and try and build a sub-class around that specific technology doesn't help us.


In the suite metering group's submissions last year and in their final arguments - this was dated February 19th, 2010 - they themselves give the indication that focussing on a specific technology for cost of service -- cost allocation study would be unhelpful, because they themselves acknowledge that, quote:

"There may be variations in the business model and the technologies used by SSM providers."


And then later, also on page 19, they say:

"Some members of the SSMWG use exactly the same Quadlogic metering system technology as THESL."


That was paragraph 19.  The implication is that other members of my friend's client's group use different technologies than THESL.


Thirdly, the implication is to potentially create multiple subcategories of suite meter customers, and the impact of this would be a burdensome approach which potentially could result in myriad subclasses of sub-metered customers.  How could you properly set rates on this basis?  You couldn't.


An analogy on the broader residential side would be, rather than having residential, would you divide it up into, let's say, house sizes, those customers 1,500 square feet or less, the second category, 1,500 to 2,500 square feet, from 2,500 to 4,000, et cetera, et cetera, or slice the residential class by the voltages that they are served at?


That is not how we do ratemaking.  It doesn't make sense, with all due respect.


So defining a rate class by technology, which really underlies my friend's submissions, is untenable.


Under the Distribution System Code, there is clear eligibility of residential customers, whether they be in condominiums and now in rental units.  It's a general eligibility, and it's unlimited in the sense of THESL's obligation to respond to these eligible parties.  If they are requested to do so, they have to make these installations.


So in no way is this eligibility limited to a particular type of technology, and, therefore, it would make no sense, in any event, to do a study on this, because it's not going to generate a specific subset of a class that makes any kind of sense from a rate-making point of view or rate design point of view.


Now, my friend has also made this distinction between the information we gave in the interrogatories, the nine-thousand-and-change suite meters, and then the broader multi-unit class of 120,000.  And this is simply a matter of presentation.


We were asked for forecasts of what we think a particular subset, condominiums, will generate and we gave those estimates.  But the 120,000, the broader group, that's what the Board asked us to do.  That is the sub-class, the multi-residential group.


So from a rate design perspective, we want a class like that that's going to remain stable over time and not change year in, year out, depending on the particular flavour of technology of the day, and that would be the implication of what my friend is asking for.


You can imagine a situation where you have five different subsets of rate classes over 10 years because the technology changes.  We don't design and make rates on that basis.


So in conclusion on this point, on the cost allocation study, the Board did not order Toronto Hydro to complete a cost allocation study of suite meters with a specific technology, with Quadlogic meters.  It doesn't appear in the decision.  It's not part of the defined issue and cannot be now supported in the motion before you.


My friend's client has decided that almost one year after the fact, it just doesn't like the Board's direction, but now is not the time to change it.  It is now not open to my friend to ask that the direction be amended and, thus, a new and different study be created.


Toronto Hydro's cost allocation study responds fully and properly to the direction of the Board to undertake a cost allocation study related to its provision of suite metering services, so we would ask that this aspect of the motion be dismissed.


And I would also like to point out one thing from the BDR study.  My friend drew this distinction between information into the interrogatories about suite meters having costs of $596 versus 297.  If you remember that, it was in tab 4.


If I could just take you to Mr. O'Leary's brief, tab 4, page 2?  This is page 2 of the BDR study.  Without getting into the merits of the study - we can leave that for the hearing - if you just look at the first line of the last paragraph, it explains the reason for the difference.  And the report reads:

"The SMSC customers attract significantly higher costs for meter capital, meter-related expenses and meter reading, but it was discovered that these costs are more than offset by significantly lower costs associated with secondary infrastructure."


So that distinction that my friend made between the $596 versus the 297, that doesn't tell the whole story.  But, as I say, that's for the hearing, not for today.


On the second part of my friend's motion on the disputed interrogatory answers, I wanted to focus on their Interrogatory No. 1, which is -- this is found in Mr. O'Leary's documents behind tab 1.  It's appendix A, which is the latter part of the document, and it's Interrogatory 1.  And this is the one that references the separate application that Toronto Hydro is pursuing.


As said, Mr. O'Leary bases this interrogatory on this entirely different proceeding, this application for sub-metering that Toronto Hydro applied for last July.  And the issues that he has articulated here in the interrogatories, they are not -- they are simply not grounded in this proceeding.


There's no evidence reference to this proceeding.  None could be provided by Toronto Hydro, because it is a -- it all has to do with sub-metering activities, which Toronto Hydro does not now undertake, is not licensed to perform, and would not, in any case, form part of the Toronto Hydro regulated activities or revenue requirements.


For that separate proceeding, Toronto Hydro applied for a sub-metering licence simply to satisfy a Board requirement, and that was explained in Board Staff Interrogatory 1 of that proceeding.  If you go to tab 7 of my book of documents, Exhibit K1.2, it explains this.


This was an interrogatory from Board Staff, and it gives the reference in the response to the requirements of the smart sub-metering code, section 3.4.1, where the Board states:

"A smart sub-metering provider shall not sell, transfer or sign a contract with a consumer or another person who is not a licensed smart sub-metering provider."


If you go to the next page, you'll see the basis and the rationale that Toronto Hydro made this application in the first place is to satisfy this requirement should Toronto Hydro enter into a transaction in the future where they do acquire such a system from another party.


They couldn't do it without getting this licence.  So that's this extent of it.


I'm also advised that essentially the identical interrogatories have already been asked by Mr. O'Leary in that separate proceeding.  So it is not as if this information will not be reviewed or responded to.  It is just going to happen in a different case and not this one.


So for these reasons, I submit that the answers that Toronto Hydro gave are entirely appropriate.  In fact, with respect to parts of these interrogatories, (h) and (k), we actually did give the responses, and those are contained in the materials that were filed when this interrogatory was filed with my friend.


On the other two outstanding questions, interrogatories 12 and 13, one had to do with the expansion deposit.  Again, my view is this goes to the merits.  Toronto Hydro was asked a question.  It gave its answer.  Mr. O'Leary is free to pursue that at the hearing, but now is not the time to argue the interpretation of the Distribution System Code or how Toronto Hydro applies that. 
So that's a matter that we've answered the question.  We can deal with it at the hearing.  Mr. O'Leary is free to ask questions about that then.


And, likewise, on Interrogatory 13, we've answered the questions.  In short, Toronto Hydro's answer is we're following the Distribution System Code.  If Mr. O'Leary wants to challenge that, he can do so at the hearing and in final argument.


In summary, Mr. Chairman, we believe that this motion should be dismissed.  We think it's groundless and without merit.  The allegation that Toronto Hydro's cost allocation study does not carry out the Board's directive is unfounded.  We know what the definition was, and I've taken you through that, and it's unsupportable to try and change that now, because, frankly, they don't like the answer in the BDR study.


The declined interrogatories, we've explained that.  They relate to a different hearing, and it would be inappropriate to try and link that or couple that into this current proceeding.  And for the other outstanding questions, we have answered, and if Mr. O'Leary wants to pursue those further, he can do those at the hearing.


I would have one final comment about timing.  My friend has had these interrogatory responses for some six weeks now, and the cost allocation study was filed on the 29th.  If they had questions about interrogatories, for example, the missing ones, you know, we would have appreciated if they would just simply have contacted me sooner.


If there is a way we can accommodate parties in a less formal way, we are happy to do so.  But to wait now literally to the eleventh hour to make the requests that he made are not appropriate, and, as I say, we think this should be taken into account when you are reviewing these matters.


We also have submissions, when the time comes, as to costs.  We think costs should be denied in this motion, but I'll leave that to a later time.  And those are my submissions, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  Mr. O'Leary?  First of all, any questions from the Panel?


MS. TAYLOR:  I do, actually.  Mr. O'Leary spent a considerable amount of time linking the suite meter definition to specific numerical submissions made by THESL itself in its own evidence.  Can you decouple or relate the definition, as you have described it, to your own use of the definition in the material, which keeps coming back to the 9,500, which you have not addressed, and how a written definition translates directly to numbers in your own evidence, and particularly to your account classifications going back to at least prior to 2008, please?


MR. RODGER:  I think it's a function of the information we've been asked for and how it's been presented.  The 9,000 number and change in this hearing is a forecast that we were asked to make, and we did make, as to what we think the numbers will be for condo slice of the market; not what the whole market is, not for the rental units, but the condo slice.


That is very different and it does have different costs.  And we've dealt with that, just like serving other customers have different costs based on voltage size, space and so on.


But that's a very different question from the one of looking at a new subcategory of ratepayers, which is the 120,000, and that in our view is the significant thing.


MS. TAYLOR:  I just want to go to -- again, just to make sure I understand your answer, I guess this would be in Mr. O'Leary's exhibit, tab 7, under (c), second last page.  It says the individual metered suites with 2007, 2008 actuals, 2009, 2010 forecast, and I appreciate the numbers are now different.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MS. TAYLOR:  And in the following schedule, he indicated that you had said or clarified that of the 31,000 in LDC-specific 2, that 9,500 suite meters existed.  So is that previous number, then, of suite metering inconsistent or --


MR. RODGER:  Again, I think --


MS. TAYLOR:  I'm trying to understand what the numbers are for suite meters as it has been defined, that you have said are suite meters.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Ms. Taylor, if you go on the top of page 10, the start of the answer, you'll see that the forecast, it's an estimate only for new individually-metered condominium suites.  So it's not dealing with other rental units, and it's not dealing with what the sub-class should look like or the conversion of existing buildings that have bulk meters to the sub suite meters.


So it's really trying to respond to the requests that were made through various interrogatories as these things have evolved over the past series of hearings.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm not sure if this would be useful or not.  In our deliberations, I would like to understand and confirm perhaps.  When we're talking about the 9,000 suite meters being a subset of the 120, what differentiating factors, if any, are there in what is -- in the costing itself, then?


When we speak to the meter technologies that are specific to the 9,000, is there a difference of any magnitude in the type of technologies that would be used for the other 110,000?


Are all these meters eventually going to be smart meters and directly managed by THESL?  Is that what is envisioned in the cost allocation analysis?


MR. RODGER:  For the main subset, this 120,000 or so customers, these are largely existing individuals, metered customers, and I gather there's a wide range of technologies.  For the 9,000, there's also different technologies that are used today and that are emerging.


I don't have a list of all those factors off the top of my head, but I think it's something that could be pursued with the appropriate panel, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We may need it, at this point -- if you don't mind, Mr. Rodger, perhaps, at a slightly different angle.  The cost allocation study, as performed and as described today, THESL took it and interpreted it in such a way as to make a comparison as to what multi-unit residential customers would -- the cost causality related to those customers versus your typical single family dwelling, would be the majority of the comparator, I think, that was looked at.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is it the intent, then, that we're to read the cost allocation study that, ultimately, if there were a separate class for that multi-residential, that they would be serviced in the same fashion, in that the interaction would be through smart metering, although it would possibly require other technologies because its multi-residential infrastructure, but that those two customers would be identical, that they would have the same sub smart metering interactions and be directly customers of THESL?


MR. RODGER:  I think the similarity is that all those customers are all going to be direct residential customers of Toronto Hydro.  Whether they all have the identical technology, likely not, but they certainly all will be direct residential customers.


MR. QUESNELLE:  With smart meters?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Ms. Taylor?


MS. TAYLOR:  So in the 2008 evidence that was provided by Mr. O'Leary, you've indicated three different types of meters, and so the suite metering, which was number 2, was not a smart meter.  It was a conversion, if I'm understanding, not part of your government-directed program.  And I see your counterpart is nodding in agreement with that statement, so I'll continue.


So the 9,500, I guess I'm having difficulty with the number, the definition, and then if you look at schedule -- the second schedule - it would be again tab 7, tab C, last page, the 2010 cost allocation information filings, the sheet 7.1 "Meter Capital Worksheet First Run" - that there is a substantial difference in cost between the government-mandated smart meter program, and at that point in time, the 31,275 customers, of which the 9,500 suite meters.


So I guess what I'm trying to understand is there seems to be a cost differential that you've got in your spreadsheet.  You've stipulated you've got three different types of meters, but this isn't part of the government smart metering program.  It does convert a certain type of customer to something else using, albeit, technology that may change.


So what is the purpose of that particular type of meter as a service to customers or class, if you will, and how does that feed into the 9,500 number?  And I ask this solely because Mr. O'Leary has said that that has been their focus for the last couple of years as opposed to the broader customer class that seems to have a very different cost driver.


MR. RODGER:  I think Toronto Hydro acknowledges that there is cost differences between these different technologies, depending on the application.  As we've said in other hearings, Toronto Hydro looks around and uses the most cost-effective solution for these different applications.


But on the central question, the technology can't be the defining factor or the specific technology cost for defining a whole class of customers if we are going to move to a sub-class.  And I think that's the distinction we're making, is that, yes, there are different costs here, but as you'll hear in the main hearing - and I referred to this earlier - there are other counterbalancing impacts that have lower operational costs, which will be different from another single family home smart meter application.


So we're saying the focus on the technology, that shouldn't and that cannot be a determining factor in establishing the class, and this meter capital worksheet is simply intended to show that, that, yes, there are differences, but it doesn't tell the whole picture of what is happening here, or it certainly doesn't tell the whole picture to establish a new class.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Rodger.  Mr. O'Leary?  I'm sorry, yes, I believe you did have something that you possibly wanted to insert.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, two things, actually.  The first is more in the nature of a clarification.  Just for the purposes of the record, Board Staff wasn't clear from the parties, or particularly from the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group, whether it was satisfied with the second round Interrogatory No. 1, or what you were requesting that the Panel do with respect to that interrogatory response.


So this is the second round.  It's at page 8 of 17 of appendix A to the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group's motion, which is at tab 1 of Exhibit K1.1.


MR. O'LEARY:  This is the interrogatory asking for a working Excel spreadsheet?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  We've included it here.  I did not go to it deliberately, because, at the end of the day, if you do order a further cost allocation study, we will ask this IR again, and we'll see what Toronto Hydro's response is to that.


But, frankly, providing us with a working copy of the Excel spreadsheet for this cost allocation study is of no help to us, so I'm not pursuing it at this time.  It will follow in -- if a further study is ordered.

Submissions by Ms. Sebalj:


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you for that.  And secondly is in the nature of a submission or of assistance to the Panel.  And this is going to sound a little bit like Mr. Buonaguro's submissions, but, in Board Staff's view, both parties have sort of necessarily and understandably gone to the substance of the issue beneath the motion itself in either attempting to convince the Board to accept the study as filed or to reject it, or at least allow it to be recast in the nature that the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group is asking.


We have in this proceeding an approved final issues list, and at least two of the issues on that issues list speak to this, and I will just read them into the record.  The first issue is 1.1, which is:

"Has Toronto Hydro responded appropriately to all relevant Board directions from previous proceedings?"


And, of course, what necessarily falls out of that is the cost allocation study, which is the subject of some of the submissions today.  And then issue 7.2:

"Is Toronto Hydro's suite metering cost allocation appropriate?"


And the reason I raise those, of course, is that, in Board Staff's view, it's inappropriate to decide these issues today in the context of a motion, but, rather, as Mr. Buonaguro has already submitted, that we need to have a full testing of the evidence with witnesses who can speak to the study, and the cross-examination of that.


And, frankly, in his final submissions, Mr. O'Leary seems to be in some ways agreeing with that premise, and he can correct me if I'm wrong in his reply.


I also wanted to put on this record, although they have been filed as part of Mr. O'Leary's book of authorities, the Board's rules in respect of interrogatories, and, in particular, Rule 29.02, which says:

"A party who is unable or unwilling to provide a full and adequate response to an interrogatory shall file and serve a response."


And (a) is:

"Where the party contends that the interrogatory is not relevant, setting out specific reasons in support of that contention;

"(b) Where the party contends that the information necessary to provide an answer is not available or cannot be provided with reasonable effort, setting out the reasons for the unavailability of such information, as well as any alternative available information in support of the response; and/or

"(c) Otherwise explaining why such a response cannot be given."


And then of course Rule 29.03 is the rule which the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group has used, which is to bring a motion if they continue to be unsatisfied with the responses.


And the reason I bring that to your attention is only to assist the Panel in making a decision with respect to not just the cost allocation study, but the other interrogatory responses which are alleged in this motion to be neither full nor adequate.


The second piece that I would like to bring to the Panel's attention and to the attention of all the parties in the room is a decision, which I'll ask my colleague to provide to the Panel, and we also have copies for intervenors.  But I think you'll be familiar with it.


It was a decision in EB-2009-0139.  It was interlocutory in nature.  It was a decision on a motion and Procedural Order No. 5, and this is in Toronto Hydro's cost of service case last year for rates to be implemented May 1, 2010.


The reason that I bring this up is I think it can be instructive to the Panel.  The context for this decision is not dissimilar for today's motion, and I note the relevant point that the decision was made on January 22nd, 2010.  So basically at the same time last year, a similar motion was being heard.


And it relates to a motion by Pollution Probe in the context of that rate hearing requesting that the Board direct Toronto Hydro to provide full and adequate interrogatory responses to Pollution Probe's interrogatories.


And the first -- the paragraph on page 2 under the title "The basis for compelling interrogatory responses", I will read it into the record:

"The purpose of all evidence adduced in a hearing before the Board is to assist the Board in making a decision.  Only evidence that is relevant to an issue in the application that must be decided by Board can be of assistance to the Board in its decision making."


And I'm going to try to slow down for the court reporter, who I'm sure is typing madly:

"The Board will only direct a party to provide a response to an interrogatory if the Board is persuaded that the interrogatory relates to an issue in the application before it and the response to the interrogatory is likely to adduce evidence that is relevant and helpful to the decision it must make.  These principals underlie the Board's decision in this motion."


And that may be trite, but I think it's worth mentioning, given the context.


I also bring this to your attention for a more specific reason, and that is at page 4 under the heading "Pollution Probe No. 3", Pollution Probe made a request with respect to a study that had been filed by Toronto Hydro for Toronto Hydro to recalculate certain costs and reproduce a graph related to that study.


And I won't go into the details, but the details are on page 5 with respect to the request, and Toronto Hydro submitted that the information -- sorry, that the information related to the issue of -- that was being requested, that Pollution Probe had not demonstrated that the requested information was relevant.


And under "Board Findings" on page 5, the -- I'm just trying to decide which sentence it is -- the sentence that begins:

"The Board accepts Pollution Probe's argument that this interrogatory tests the underlying assumptions of the study, as well as the resulting evaluated cost calculations and that testing the underlying assumptions of the study regarding costs is relevant to the issue of determining whether the study, which was filed adequately and completely, examines the costs of incorporating bidirectional generation as directed by the Board. The Board assumes that the requested recalculation and graph are reasonable and not onerous, as it requires only one change to the input assumptions."


So the entire reason for bringing that up is this notion of a bit of a test with respect to the reasonability of the request and how onerous it is.


In this case, I think, again, and Mr. O'Leary can correct me, but there's been sort of a general acknowledgement in the room that the request of the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group is onerous in the sense that it will take some time, should the Board decide that the study needs to be recast, for that to happen, and that it may not be able to happen within the context of this hearing, if this hearing proceeds in the timelines that are intended.


So I bring that only to your attention to indicate that the Board has dealt with similar issues previously, acknowledging, of course, that the recalculations in this study were found to not be onerous in this case.


Now, with respect to IR No. 13 in the second round, which is the interrogatory from the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group related to the cost allocation study, Board Staff's submission is that a full examination of the evidence is required for this Panel to determine the issues, as articulated in the final issues list.


There are potentially unfortunate timing issues that fall out of this, which were addressed by my friend, and the scheduling consequences will have to be discussed, but, in Board Staff's submissions, the appropriate thing to do is to decide this in the fullness of time through proper cross-examination.


Subject to any questions, those are Board Staff's submissions.


MS. TAYLOR:  Just a question I have very quickly.  You are not suggesting that because there may be more than one variable that must be rerun in this model, that -- and there are implications for time, that we not potentially request or ask --


MS. SEBALJ:  No.  I would never make any -- that would -- I wasn't speaking to the ultimate issue of whether or not this study is appropriately cast or should be recast, or how long that might take, only to the fact that there's been a general acknowledgement by the moving party that if the request is granted by this Panel, that it is likely to take some time to fulfill.


MS. TAYLOR:  But you are not suggesting that because it will take some time, potentially, that we should not potentially allow it?


MS. SEBALJ:  No, I'm not.


MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.  Mr. O'Leary?

Further Submissions by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I won't be long.  If I could just briefly address Ms. Sebalj's comments, we accept the Board's decision in the motion from last year, and the words under the heading "The basis for compelling interrogatory responses" as being -- my friend referred to it as trite law, but it is the law:

"The purpose of all evidence adduced in a hearing before the Board is to assist the Board in making a decision, and only evidence that is relevant to an issue in the application that must be decided by the Board can be of assistance to the Board in its decision making."


So where are we?  The Board ordered Toronto Hydro to do something last year, a cost allocation study.  It has determined in this proceeding that the issue is so important that the parties can't even settle it, and it has to go forward and be heard in an oral hearing.


We are here today to ask you a very simple question in terms of the cost allocation study, and it's not whether or not it was done accidentally or otherwise; simply, whether or not the order last year required Toronto Hydro to examine the sub-rate class, which consisted of the suite metering customers, the 9,500, which it has identified as the customers that its program has provided service to in 2009.


And if that is not what was ordered, you can say so and we move on.  We don't need to get into whether or not BDR was provided with specific instructions to consider another type of sub-rate class or not.  What is important is:  What was the Board's intention last year?


And the place you start to look at that to inform yourself is last year's decision.  It's not whether or not the sub-metering group and my friend, in terms of a settlement agreement, in terms of scoping the issue, had any relevance to it.  It's:  What was the Board's intention last year?  And that should be informed by that decision.


So our submission is that your actual stated purpose in this proceeding, if the issues list is followed - and we attended here on February 15th or some subsequent date and made the same arguments on that date as we have here today - and you found that, in fact, the cost allocation study was not what the Board had order last year, then my comments about delay are only amplified.


And the goal and objectives of, my understanding, this Panel to have evidence adduced in respect of the issue, 'Is there a cross-subsidy or not?', will have been defeated.  So to wait until the hearing to get into this issue, we submit, if we're correct and that you find that the cost allocation study was done inappropriately, would not make much sense.


You are the master of your own process.  There is nothing in this rules or a prior decision which would prevent this Panel from deciding today, or in the next short while, that Toronto Hydro's cost allocation study is inappropriate, and we submit that in the circumstances, which are quite unique, in that you have required the matter to go to hearing to be heard on the basis of oral evidence, it's absolutely appropriate that we come at the earliest date possible to try and ensure you have the correct record before you.


My friend, if I can respond to Mr. Rodger's comments in respect to the cost allocation, is trying to suggest that the sub-metering group somehow understood or argued for a cost allocation study which included the entire universe of multi-unit buildings.


Number one, I can tell you there's nothing in the 2010 evidence that Toronto Hydro filed which indicated that it was smart metering, units using smart meter program equipment.  It didn't come up.  And as I indicated in my argument-in-chief, it didn't come up, in part, because smart meters weren't on the table.  They were not looking for revenue requirement implications and approvals in that proceeding.


It is, frankly, the first time we've heard of it, as a result of the cost allocation study, that Toronto Hydro appears to be using the smart meters that it has put on the side of our houses in some of the multi-unit buildings.


All that simply means is they have taken out all the old mechanical meters and substituted them with the smart meter, and that's consistent with the province's mandated smart meter program.  That has not been the subject of any argument, debate, concern or intervention by the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group.


To try and suggest that we at any time have indicated that somehow that should be aggregated in with their suite metering program is just patently false.


So if you'll look at the evidence, you'll see that they are asking in this proceeding for approval to spend $2.6 million on suite meters.  They are asking for, or they did ask for 2.4 million in 2010 and 3.3 million in 2009.  They are able to easily carve out the suite metering program.


And, Mr. Quesnelle, they are smart meters, whether they put in a smart meter, which is not part of their suite metering program and which is included as part of their smart metering initiative.


You will hear their evidence about that later and approve the actual flow-through to rates of those expenditures at another time.  But in terms of the suite metering program, which is the one that is competing with the competitive market unit sub-metering, we're talking now about 9,500 in 2009 and 5,000 more in 2010.  It's very clear that we're talking about completely separate and distinct programs, and we submit that that is what the Board was looking at, because what you've been provided with does not assist you in determining whether or not there's a cross-subsidy for the suite metering program.


We couldn't have come forward and said, Toronto Hydro, you are not allowed to put smart meters as part of your provincially-mandated smart meters to replace out the mechanical meters in the multi-unit buildings.  We couldn't have, and we didn't.


We did come forward and adduced evidence and questioned, and we believe to the satisfaction of the Panel last year, that there were issues about whether cross-subsidy is occurring, and, if it is, this will be determined through a cost allocation study, but one that focusses on the people that are receiving the benefits of that.  And those are the members of the suite metering program.


My friend talked about the impropriety of multiple sub-rate classes.  Our group has never been advocating that.  If ultimately a study determines that a sub-rate class is inappropriate and there is a more efficient means of dealing with the cross-subsidy, you deal with it at that time.  So you don't pre-judge it, as my friend is suggesting you do at this point, and say, Oh, don't look at the appropriate class, because it might mean a very small sub-rate class.


Perhaps it will be clear that it is an appropriate remedy and that all the rest remain as part of the residential rate class, but that's not a reason to not follow the Board's order.


Finally, in respect of the other interrogatories we asked in terms of the questions that do flow from the licence application, it's clear that if the licence is granted, it appears Toronto Hydro intends to undertake activities.  There are cost implications that arise, and Affiliate Relationships Code issues, cross-subsidy issues that arise, perhaps revenue computation issues that arise.  They are appropriate questions, and to simply say they will be dealt with at another day means that, for 2011, ratepayers are stuck with no answers.


Finally, in terms of the expansion deposit, the remaining question, we're looking for the actual numbers, and I can't think of a more relevant question than:  Where are the expansion deposit funds that you are going to retain, and how are you applying that in terms of your revenue requirement?


And that is what we're asking for.


Subject to any questions, Panel, those are our submissions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  The Panel has no questions.  The Board will reserve for the day on this.  We will not be issuing anything today.  We discussed the complexity of this.  It's not a simple and straightforward motion.  I don't offer that qualification for anything but its character.  There are many aspects we will want to deliberate on.


And recognizing the need to get something back to the parties quickly, we will endeavour to do so and make this our first priority, and, in that, reflect on the motion request for schedule.


And because we have things happening next week, we will get information either in the decision or in a procedural order as to how we will proceed next week, if that is necessary, but it is our intent to issue a decision which includes direction on the usefulness of our planned activities next week in both the technical conference and the settlement.


With that, we are adjourned.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:23 p.m.
PAGE  

